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4 1 148 19
3,897,442 502,224 3,039,572 391,679
(327) (42) (711) (92)
3,897,119 502,183 3,039,009 391,607
(28,517) (3,675) (24,665) (3,178)
(15,924) (2,052) (16,139) (2,080)
(33,692) (4,342) (33,692) (4,342)
(142,585) (18,374) (126,663) (16,322)
(1,782) (230) (1,583) (204)
(22,450) (2,893) (60,886) (7,846)
(30,389) (3,916) (29,881) (3,850)
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(54 (1) (68) C)
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3,570,419 460,084 2,707,424 348,879
4 (1) (148) (19)

3,570,415 460,084 2,707,276 348,860
(1,037,442) (133,685) (759,572) (97,879)
5,324 686 (13,121) (1,691)

4 1 148 19

2,538,301 327,085 1,934,731 249,309

1,822,906 234,900 3,133,738 403,813
(4,356,996) (561,443) (5,341,831) (688,348)
(2,534,090) (326,543) (2,208,093) (284,535)
4,211 543 (273,362) (35,225)

73,692 9,496 347,054 44,721

77,903 10,039 73,692 9,496
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LS Fecused Growth Equify Fund Fonign Curmency
Sariag - & senes brust of Red Are Globad ivestmends (Cayman) Trust
Financinl stemanis far the year ended 3T December 20271

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021
{Expressed in United States dollars)

Note 2021 2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3N - T7,90% $ 73,692
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 4. 11 18,393,174 17,355,732
Subscription receivable G 7490 19,300
Total assets 5 18,478,567 5 17,448,724
Liabilities
Arccruals and other payables 11 3 62,258 5 56,934
Redempticn payable 5 5,464 244
Total liabilities 5 67,722 5 57,178
Met assets attributable to unitholders 10 £ 18,410,845 & 17,391,548
Reprasenting:
Total equity 10(k) § 18,410,845 $ 17,391,546
Wet asset value per unit based on 866,011

(2020: 1,000,658} units issued UsD  21.258 USD  17.380

Approved and authorised for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on 22 June 2022

- -—-..a-a-r-"-"\—"‘:
PHLLES For and an behall of
et Bt FirstCaribbean Intemational Bank

s

& efnamenisn S and Trusi Company {Cayman) Limited (“Trustee”)

et i B i ot

el PR
gt o

For and on behalfl of
Ciligroup First Invesirment
Management Limited ("Manager”)

—

o=

T T ™ o B

The notes on pages 11 to 33 form part of these financial statements.
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U5 Focused Growdh Equely Fund Fomeign Curency
Serjey = o gevied frdf of Red Arc Global imvasrnents (Cayman] Truest
Financial statemenls for ihe year ended 31 December 2021

Statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2021
{Expressed in United States dollars)

MNota 2027 2020

Interest income calculated using the effective

interest method 7,1 3 4 3 148
Mel gain on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 8 3 897 442 3035572
MWet foreign exchange loss {327) (711
Total income $ 3897119 5 3,038,009
hanagement fee 11 3 (28,517) § {24, 665)
Trustee fes 1 (15.924) (16,139)
Administrator fees 11 (33,692) {33,692)
Distributor fee 12 {142,585) (125 663)
Aoent company fes 1 (1,782) (1,583)
Legal expenses (22,450) (60, B86)
Audit fea (30, 389) (20 881)
Financial statements preparation fee 1 (7.989) {8,142)
Professional fee 11 (4,500) {4,500)
Bank charges 11 (54) {68)
Miscellanecus expenses (38,818) {25,366)
Total operating expenses § (3267000 5  (331,585)
Change in net assets attributable to

unitholders from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year £ 3570418 ¥ 2707424

The notes on pages 11 to 33 form part of these financial statements.
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U5 Focused Growlh Equily Fund Foreign Crmency
Seres - o sevies fnus! of Red Ao Global fnve staests (Cepmaen) Tres!
Financiedl stafemanls for iha yaar anded 31 Dacembar 2021

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31

December 2021
{Expressed in United States dollars)

2021 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year . 5 17,391,546 § 16,807 868
Transactions with unitholders, recorded in

aquity
Subseription of units 5 1811098 $ 3,149,938
Redemption of units (4,362,216) (5,273 684)
Total transactions with unitholders 5 (25511200  § (2.123,746)
Change in net assets attributable to

unitholders from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year $ 3570419 5 2707424
Balance at the end of the year 5 18,410,845 § 17,381,546

The notes on pages 11 @ 33 form part of these financial statements.,
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LiS Focuzed Growth Equity Fund Forelgn Currency
Sgvies - a soviag vg of Red Are Gleha! nesimants [Cayrman] Trest
Firelyl shelemants for the yeav enced 37 Dacember 202

Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2021
{Expressed in United States doliars)

2027 2020

Operating activities
Change in net assets attributable to unitholders from

operations and (otal comprehensive incoma for the

year % 3570419 & 2,707 424
Adjustment for:
Intarest income {4} (148)
Operating profit before changes in working

capital $ 3570415 $§ 2707276
Increase in financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss {1,037 442) (758,572)
Increasef{decrease) in accruals and other payables 5324 {13,121)
Interesl received 4 148
MNet cash generated from operating activities 3 253830 3 ____1._9_34,?31
Financing activities
Proceeds from unit subscriptions § 1,822,906 § 3133738
Payments an unit redemptions {4,358 9586) {5,341,831)
Net cash used in financing activities $ (2534.080) S (2,208,093)
Met increasef{decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents g 4211 & (273.362)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of

the year 73,692 347 054
Cash and cash equivalents at the end

of the year % 77,903 ] 73,652

The notes on pages 11 to 33 form part of these financial statements.

10
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U5 Facused Growth Equity Fund Fonefgn Curmency
Sorfes - @ seres trust of Red Are Glabal s stmants [Cayman) Trush
Fiancial siafaments for he pear ended 37 December 2021

Notes to the financial statements
{Expressed in Unifed Siates dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

1 Genaral

Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust (the *Trust"™) is an umbrelta unit trust established
as an exempled trust under the Trust Act of the Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated
21 Cctober 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, between Citigroup First
Investment Managemeant Limited as manager (the “Manager’) and FirstCaribbean International
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited as trustee (the "Trustee”) (jointly the
“Management’). The Trust registered under the Mutual Funds Act of the Cayman |slands on
27 October 2008, US Focused Growth Equity Fund Foreign Currency Series (the “Series
Teust™) was established on 22 May 2015. The Series Trust's first dealing day was 30 June
2015,

The investment objective of the Serdes Trust is to seck long-term growth by adopling
investment sirategy set out in note 9(a).

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Trust and the Series Trust had no
employees, The investment activities of the Seres Trust are managed by the Manager, The
administration and custodian functions of the Series Trust are delegated to Citibank M.A, Hong
Karyg Branch (the “Administrator” and the “Custodian”). SMBC Trust Bank Lid, is the distributer
(Ihe “Distributer™) of the Series Trust. Units are offered in Japan as a putlic offer under Article
2, Paragraph 3, Item 1 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.

2  Significant accounting policies
(a) Staterment of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hang Kong Accounting Standards {("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
oy the Hong Kong Institule of Cedified Public Accountants ("HKICPAT) and accounting
princip'es ganerally accepled in Heng Kong. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Series Trust is set out below.

The HEICPA has issued cartain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption far the current accounting pericd of the Series Trust. Mote 2(d) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulling from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Series Trust for the current and prior
aceounting periods reflected in these financial statements,

(b} Basis of preparation
The functicnal and presentation currency of the financial statements is the United States dollar
{*USDY {rounded to the nearest USD) and not the local currency of the Cayman |slands,

reflecting the fact that the un'ts of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in USD and the
Series Trust's performance is measured in USD terms.

1
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U5 Focused Grownh Equily Fund Fomedign Curency
Sanes - o sevies trusl of Red Ano Global wasfmants (Capmant Trusd
Fancal stafemeafs for e yar simded 31 Decamber 20271

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statemems is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated al their fair value as axplained
in the accounting policies, note 2{(e) below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HEFRSs requires Management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, The estimales and associated
assumptions are based on histoncal experence and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
judgments about carmying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these eslimates.

The estimates and undedying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the peried in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of tha revision and future periods If the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the financial slatements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 13,

{c} Foreign currency transiation

Fareign currency transactions during the year are transtated into USD at the exchange rate at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities dencminated in foreign currencias
are translated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period,
Fareign curransy differances arisng on translation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign
exchange gain or less, except for those arising from financial assets at fair value through profit
ar loss, which are recognised as a component of the net gain or loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

{dl Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first efective for the
current accounting period of the Series Trust. None of these developments are relavant to the
Series Trust's resulls and financial position.

The Series Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effectve for
the curment accounting period (see note 14).

{e) Financial instruments

{iy Initial recognition
The Series Trust classifies ils financial instrumenls into differant categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Financial insiruments are measured initially at fair value, which

narmally will be equal lo the lransaction price.  Transaction costs on financial assets at fair
value threugh profit or loss are expensed immeadiately.

12
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U5 Focusad Growth Equily Fund Forergn Curmancy
Series - @ serias lrsd of Red A Glabad [ssimants (Cayman] Trusl
Firancial statements for the year ended 37 Docembaer 2027

Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Serias Trust recognises financial assets and financial iabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or less is recognised using frade date
aceounting. From these dates, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded as they
QCCUr.

Categorisation

On initial recegrition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortised
cosl or fair value through profit or loss (*FYTPL").

A financial asset is measured al amorlised cost if it meets both of the fallowing condilions and
is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it Is held within a business model whose abjective is to hold assels o collact contractual
cash flows; and

- its contraclual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest ("SPPI7).

All other financial assels of the Series Trust are measured at FVTPL.
Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business moedel in which a financial asset is
hald, the Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is
managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includas whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets 1o
the duration of any related labilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the porfolic is evaluated and reported to Seres Trust's
Managemeant;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assels held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how Managemenl is compensated. e.q. whether compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior perods, the reasong
for such sales and expactations about fulure sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in fransactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust's continuing
recognition of the assets.

13
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US Focused Growth Equily Fund Foreign Gurmency
Seriag - 8 gerias st of Red Arc Giobal vesiments [Capman) Trust
Bnancind sedemands for the yesr snded 37 Dacambar 2621

Significant accounting policies (continued)
The Series Trust has determined that it has two business modals.

- Held-to-collect business medel: this includes subscription raceivable and cash and cash
equivalents. These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

- Other business model: this includes an cpen-ended investment fund. This financial asset
is managed and its performance is evaluated, on a fair value basls, with frequent sales
laking place.

Assessment whether confractual cagh flows are EPP(

Faor the purpases of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. 'Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of maney and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount oulstanding during a parficular period of
time and for other basie lending risks and costs (e.g. Bquidity risk and administrative costs), as
well as a profit margin.

In azzessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could changs the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust
considers:,

contingent avents that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;
- prepayment and extension features;

terms that limit the Seres Trust’s claim to cash flows from specified assels (e.g. non-
recourse features); and

- features that modify consideration for of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of
interest rates).

Tha Series Trust classifies its investments based on the business model and contractual cash
flows asseszment. Accordingly, the Series Trust classifies all its investment in the open-ended
investmeant fund into financial assets or inancial liabilities at FVTFL category. Financial assets
measured at amortised cost include subscriplion receivable and cash and cash equivalents,

Raclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Series
Trust were to changs its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all

affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first repading period
following the change in the business madel.

14
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Li% Focused Growih Equily Fumd Forelgn Comency
Sedios - g seves fresh of Red Are Gishal lavasinanns (Cayman] T
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{iiy  Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transzclion between market participanis at the measurement date in the principal or,
in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has access at that
dale. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-perfarmance risk.

When available, the Serles Trust measures the fair value of 8 financial instrument using the
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as aclive if
transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume Lo provide
pricing information on an cngoing basis.

If there is no guoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
brokeridealer for non-exchange-raded financial instruments, or if the markel for it is not active,
the fair value of the instrument is esfimated using valuation techniques that provide a reliable
estimate of prices which could be cbtained in actual market transactions.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument atinitial recagnition is nermally the
transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given cr received. If the Series Trust
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair
value Is evidenced neither by a gueted price in an active market for an identical azsat or liability
nor based on a valuation technique that used only data from observable markets, the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to deder the difference betweean the fair
value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is
recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis cver the life of the instrument but ne later
than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable markel data or the lransaclion is
closed out.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, astimated future cash flows are based on
Management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a markel rate at the end of the
reporling period applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where cther
pricing models are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting periog.

The Series Trust recognises transfers between lavels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the: reporting peried in which they oceur.

{iv) Impairment

The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for-expecled credit less ("ECL™) an financial
assets measured al amortised cost.

The Serias Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to [fetime ECLs, except for
the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assels forwhich credit risk {i.e. the risk of default occurming over the expected
life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
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Significant accounting policies (continuad)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recegnition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost er effort.  This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Series Trust's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Serles Trust assumes that the credil risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if
it is more than 30 days past due.

The Serigs Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- ihe borower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Series Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security {if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of
the counterparty is equivalent to the glabally understeod definition of ‘investment grade’. The
Series Trust considers this to be Baa3 or higher per Meody's or BEB- or higher per Standard
& Poor's.

Lifetirme ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financtal Instrument,

12-month ECLs are the pertien of ECLs that result from defauit events that are pessible within
the 12 maonths after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
iz less than 12 months).

The maximurm period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLS

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit lozzes are measured as the
present value of all cash shartfalls {i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interast rate of the financial assal.

Credil-impaired financial assels

At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets camied at amortised
cost ara credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one or mare events that

have a delrimental impact on the esfimaled future cash flows of the financial assel have
occurred.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Evidance that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation.
Fresentation of allowance for ECLs in the staterment of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amordised cosl are deducted from the gross
carying amount of the assets.

Wiite-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Series Trust has no
reasonable expectaticns of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion therecf.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire. or where the financial asset together with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

A finangial lakility is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or axpired.

Otfsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and enly when, the Series Trust has a legal right to offset
the amounts and it intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the azset and sattle the
liability simultanaously.

Structured entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voling or similar rights are not
the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate

to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual
arrangements.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
A structured entity often has some er all of the following features or atiributes:
- Reslricted aclivities,

- A narrow and well-defined objective, such as to provide investment opportunities for
inveslors by passing on risks and rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity
to investors;

- Insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance ils activities without subordinatad
finrancial support; and

- Financing in the form of multiple cortractually linked instruments to investors that create
concentrations of credit or olher rigks {lranches),

Management has determined that the Seres Trust's investment in Goldman Sachs US
Focused Growth Egquity Sub-Trust (the “Investment Fund™) (see nole 9(a)), a sub-trust of
Goldman Sachs (Cayman |slands) Unit Trust, an investment in an unconselidated structured
entity, is classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 4). The
Investment Fund's invesiment cbjective is to seek to provide investors with long-term growth
by investing, directly or indirectly, primarily in equily securiies of a relatively small number of
US issuers that are growth companies thal are trading at a discount to intrinsic value. The
Investment Fund is managed by an unrelaled asset manager and applies various investment
strategies to accomplish its investment objectives.

The Investment Fund invests primarily in equity securities of a relalively small number of U3,
isguers that Coldman Sachs Asset Management LP. (the “Investment Fund Manager”) (sea
note 9 (a)) believes are growth companies that are trading at a discount to intrinsic value, The
Investment Fund can use derivatives for hedging and investment purposes which are used as
an active investment management instrument to gain exposure to markets. The Invesiment
Fund finances its operations by issuing redeemable shares which are puttable at holder's
option an any day which federal, state or local banks are open for business in London, Mew
York and Tokyo and the London Stock Exchange and MNew York Stock Exchange are open for
business or any other day or days designated inowriting by the Investiment Fund Manager from
time to time and entitles the holder to a proportional stake in the [nvestment Fund's nel assets,
The Investment Fund is not listed or registered on any approved or recognised stock exchange.
The Series Trust holds redeemable shares in the Investment Fund and ks not sponsarning the
Investmeant Fund. As at 31 December 2021, the Series Trust held 1.49% (2020; 2.22%) of the
total redeemable share value of the Investment Fund.

The Series Trust's holdings in the Investment Fund are subject 1o the terms and condition of
the respectve offering documentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertainties about future values of the Investment Fund. Management makes investment
decision after extensive due dillgence of the Investment Fund including consideration of its
strategy and the overall quality of the Investment Fund Manager. The change in fair value of
the Investment Fund is included in the statement of comprehensive income as net gain or less
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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2  Significant accounting policies {continued)

(fi  Cash and cash eguivalents
Cash and cash equivalenls comprise depesils with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term,
highty liquid investrments that are readily convertible into krown amounts of cash and which

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition.
(g} Interest income

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as il accrues using the original effective interest
rate of the instruments calculated at the acquisition or origination date.  Interest income
includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, transaction costs or other differences
between the inilial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its amount at maturity
caleulated on an effective interest rate basis.

It is recorded gross of withholding tax imposed in the country of orgin and such lax is
separately recognisad in profit or loss, if any.

fh} Net gain or loss from financial assels af fair value through profit or foss

Met gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised and
unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences, but excludes interest income.

{ii Expenses
All expenses of the Series Trust are recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

{fl Income tax
Cayman fslands
Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman Islands, the Series Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Govemnor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exempling it from lax for a period of 50 years

from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included
in these financial statements.

Hong Kong

The Series Trust is not expected to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment aclivilies.
{k} Redemption of units by unitholders

Unitholders may redesm unils on any day on which commercial banks are open for business
in gach of Hong Kong, Mexico, Mew York, and Tokya, andior any other day or days designated
in writing by the Manager from time to tme (the "Repurchase Day™). Units will be redeemed
at the net asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which is calculated by
reference to the net asset value of the Series Trust as at the applicable Repurchase Day.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
M Units in issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or ecquity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.,

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligatien for the issuer to
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or ancther financial asset is classified as equity
if it meets all of the folowing conditions;

{i) it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Series Trust's net assels in the event of
the Series Trust's liguidation;

{i)  ilisin the class of instruments thal is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

{iliy &l financial instruments in the class of Instruments that is subordinate to all other classes
of instruments have identical features,

{iw] apart from the contractual obligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrument for cash or ancther financial asset, the instrument does nol include any other
features that would reguire classification as a liabllity; and

(vy the total expected cash flows afiributable to the instrument over s life are based
substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Series Trust over
the life of the instrument.

The Series Trust's redeemable units meet these condifions and are classified as equity.

Incremantal cost directly attributable to the izsue or redamption of units 2re recognised directly
in equity as a deduction from the proceeds or part of the acquisition cost.

{m} Related parties

{g) A person, or a close member of thal person's family, is relaled to the Series Trust if that
person:

{iy  has control or jeint control over the Series Trust;
{iiy  has significant influence ever the Series Trust; or

{ii) iz a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trust or the Series
Trust's parent.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) An entity is related to the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applies:

U]

{iiy

{iii)
(iv)

v}

{vi)
{wii)

{viii)

The entity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means thai
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

Cne entity is an associate or joint venture of the cther entity (or an associate cr
joint venture of 2 member of 3 Series Trust of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One enfity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
tne third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Series Trust or an enlity related to the Series Trust.

The enfity is controlled or jointly corfralled by a person identified in (a).

A persaon identified in {a){l) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a parl, provides key
management personnel services to the Series Trust or lo the Senes Trust's parant.

Clase members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that persan in their dealings with the Senes Trust.

3 Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020

Current deposits with a bank & 77,903 -] 73,692

Cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank N.A. Hong Kong Branch.

4 Financial assets at fair value through prefit or loss
2021 2020
Mon-derivative financial assets:
- Open-ended investment fund
- Gaoldman Sachs US Focused Growth Equity
Sub-Trust-Class | Shares (Acc.) (USD) & 18,393,174 $ 17,355,732
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Redemption payable

Thz kalances represent the amounts payable to unitholders for redeemed units and are
expected to be settled within one month.

Subscription receivable

The balances represent amounts receivable from unitholders for subscribed units but net yet
sellled as al the reporting date, These balances are expectad to be settfed within one month.

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method

2021 2020

Interest income on bank balances 5 4 g 148

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2021 2020
Man-derivative financial asselts:
Cpen-ended mutual fund

- Goldman Sachs US Focused Growth Equity

Sub-Trust-Class | Shares (Ace.) (USD) § 3,887.442 % 3039572
Representing:
Met realised gain § 1,670,259 § 1,454,650
Met unrealised gain 2227183 1,584,022

5§ 3,807 442 $ 3,039,572

Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust's investing aclivities exposea it to various types of financial risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
investment strategy. The risks that the Series Trust is exposed to are risks of the fund-of-fund
structure, risks of the undarlying fund and risks of the Series Trust which include market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk.

The nature and extent of lhe financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reparting period
and their associated financial risks, as well as the risk managemant policies employed by the
Series Trust are discussed balow,
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9 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(a) Investment strategy

As mentioned in note 1, the investment objective of the Series Trust is Lo seek long-term growth
by investing, directly or indirectly, primarily in equity securities of a relatively small numbear of
U5 issuers that are growth companies that are trading at a discount to intringic valua. The
Series Trust seeks to achieve this investment objective through an investment in Goldman
Sachs US Fecused Growlh Equity Sub-Trust {the “Invesiment Fund®), a sub-trust of Galdman
Sachs (Cayman Islands) Unit Trust, a Cayman Islands umbrella unit trust. -

The Investment Fund is managed by Goldman Sachs Asset Management L.P., which provides
day-to-day management in respact of the investment and re-investment of the net assets of
the Invesiment Fund, The Investment Fund Manager receives investment management fees
frem the Investment Fund.

The Investment Fund's functional currency Is USD and uses derivatives for hedging and
investment purposes which are used as an aclive invesimeni management instrument to gain
exposure to markets.

A certain portion of the Series Trust's assets is retained as cash, taking inte consideralion the
day-lo-day cash neads of the Series Trust as they arise.

(b}  Risks of the fund-of-fund structure

The Series Trust invests substantially all of its proceeds from the issuance of units into the
Investment Fund and operates on a fund-of-fund structure.

The fund-of-fund structure gives rises to a unique sk that multiple parties invest in the
Investrnent Fund alpngside the Seres Trust, whose units may not rank pari passu, lowering
the investment retums. Should a major investor withdraw itself from the Investment Fund, the
investors that remain may take up a greater proporlion of the operating expenses,
Furthermore, a substantial withdrawal of capital by the investors within a short time period
could necessitate the liquidation of security posilions at a time and in a manner which does not
provide the most economic advantage to the Investment Fund, and which can adversely affect
the value of the Investment Fund's assets,

The Series Trust achieves its investment objective through its investment in the Investmeant
Fund. Whether the investment ohjective can be achieved depends on the performance of the
Investment Fund's financial instruments and the continuing availability of the Investment Fund,
as well as the business continuity of the [nvestment Fund Manager.

fc} Risks of the Investment Fund
Under the fund-of-fund structure, the Series Trusl has an indirect exposure to the risks of the
Investment Fund and loss incurred by the Investment Fund can adversely affect the Serias
Trust's financial position. The Investment Fund is the underlying fund of the Series Trust and

is exposed to the following key risks which are monitored by the Investment Fund Manager.
The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to them.
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9 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
iy Credit risk of the Investmeant Fund

The following assets of the Investment Fund were axposed to credit risk: derivative financial
assets, cash and cash equivalents and other receivables.

As reported by the Investment Fund, the Investment Fund Manager has adopted proceduras
to reduce credit risk related to its dealings with counterparties or issuers in the Investment
Fund. Before transacting, the Investment Fund Manager or ils refated parties evaluate both
creditwerthiness and reputation by conducting a credit analysis of the party, their business and
reputation, The credit risk of approved counterparties or issuers is then monitored on an
ongaing basis, including periodic reviews of financial statements and interim financial reports
as neaded.

{iy  Cumency risk of the Investment Fund

Currency risk arises from the effecis of exchange rate fluctuations between the Investment
Fund’s functional currency and currency in which its financial instruments are denominated.
The Investment Fund had no significant currency risk exposure as at 31 December 2021 and
1 December 2020,

i) Liguidity risk of the Investment Fund

Liguidity risk arises when the Invesimeant Fund is not abla to generate sufficient cash to settle
its chligations as they fall due, due to its inability to receive cash redemptions proceeds from
the Investment Fund in timely manner.

In general, the Series Trust's investment in the Investment Fund can be redeemed on any
business day. For redemption requests that exceeds 10% of the net asset value of the
Investment Furd, the Investment Fund Manager may defer the amount of redemplion in
excess of 10% to the subsequent business day, such deferred redemplion weuld be procezsed
on & pro-rata basis with other shareholders who had submitted a redemption notice on the
subsequent business day.

The Investment Fund Manager may also impose temporary suspension of valuation of net
aszeet value and also redemptions. Triggers for such suspension may be, but not limited to,
close of a market that is significant lo the Investment Fund's investment activities, periods
where disposal, or valuation of investmenits which constitute a substantial portion of the assets
of the Investment Fund is not practically feasible or is only possible on terms thal would be
materially disadvantageous to the Investment Fund's investers.

{iv) Interest rate risk of the Investment Fund
Interest rate risk arizas from the effects of fluctuations in prevailing market interest rates on
which the fair value of Investment Fund's financial instruments and fulure cash flows are

based. The Investment Fund had no significant exposure te interest rate risk for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020,
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8  Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)
(W)  Derivative risk of the Investmeant Fund

Derivative risk arses from derivative contracts undertaken by the Investment Fund for hedging
and investment purposes. Derivative conlracts are high leverage investments and their value
is determined by fluctuation in the underlying assels. Dervative conlracts add 1o the liquidity.
cradit and counterparty risk of the Investment Fund.

As al 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the outstanding derivative contracts
undertaken by the Investment Fund included foreign currency forward contracts, The Series
Trust’s maximum exposure to its investment in the Investmeant Fund is the fair value of its
investment in the Investmeant Fund.

{d) Market risk of the Series Trust

All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the
value of the invesiments will fluctuale as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
Or prices.

iy Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arzes from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financial instrements and therefore result in a potential gain or
loss to the Series Trust. The Series Trust's interest rate risk is managed an an on-going basis
by the Manager. Except for bank deposits, all the financial assels and liabilities of the Series
Trust are non-interest bearing.

(i)  Currency risk

Currency risk arises from the effects of exchange rate fluctuations between the Series Trust's
functional currency and currency in which its financial instruments are denominated. The
Serias Trust does not have any significant foreign currency positions, and its investment in the
Investment Fund is denominated in USD. Management does not consider there to be any
significant risk associated with it.

{iiiy  Price risk

Price rizk is the risk that the valus of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices, whether caused by facters specific to an individual investment, its issuer or
all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

Frice sansitivity

The assets of the Series Trust are subslantially invested in the Investment Fund and therefore
are exposed to the price risk of the Investment Fund, It is estimaled that a 5% (2020 5%)
decreasa in the guoted price of the Investment Fund would result in 2 decrease in the net
assels atinbutable o unitholders and the total comprehensive income for the year by
approximately $919,659 (2020; $B67,787); an egual change in the cpposite direction would
result in an increase in the nel assels alfributatle to unitholders by an equal amount,

25

124/238



(e)

(e)

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

U5 Focused Growth Equiy Fund Foraign Gurmancy
Epvigs « @ sariag ine! of Red Are Glohal nvesimenls (Cayman] Trua!
Financial statements for the year ended 37 December 2021

Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Credit risk of the Series Trust

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
ohligation or a commitment that it has enterad into with the Series Trust. The Series Trust's
exposure to credit risk is monitored by the Manager on an ongoing basis,

The Series Trust is expased to credit risk with respect to the Custedian taking custody of the
Series Trust's cash and cash equivalents balances and to the Investmenl Fund for the
receivable from investment scld.  All the cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with
Citibank M.A. Hong Kong Branch which is also the Administrator and the Custedian. The
Manager considers the credit risk of the bank to be [ow.

Credit risk of the Serfes Trust {continued)

Asat 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, substantially all of the Series Trust's financial
assels were invested in the Investment Fund. The Seres Trust is indirectly exposad to credit
risk through its investment in the Investment Fund. Based on information reported by the
Investment Fund, The Manager has determined such eredit risk to be immaterial as based on
the credit worthiness of the Investment Fund's custodian and trading counterparties,

Liguidity risk of the Serfes Trust

Liquidity risk arises from the risk that the Manager may not be able to convert investmenis into
cash to maet liquidity neads in a timaly manner. As unitholders may redeem units on any
Repurchase Day, the Seres Trust is exposed lo liquidity risk of meeting unithalder
redemptions. Any amount payable to unitholders in respect of the redemption of units shall
nommally be paid within three fund business days following the relevant Repurchase Day as
defined in 2(k), subject to the receipt of the applicable sale proceeds of the investment,

The Series Trust holds investments in an open-ended mutual fund, which may be subject to
redemnption restrictions. Refer to note @ (c (i} for discussion of the liquidity risk associated
with the Investment Fund,
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued})
Analysis of Nabilities by remaining maturty

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities
ag at 31 Decembar 2021 and 31 December 2020

2021
Char Chwar
IAdithia 7 month fo 3 mornths
T manth 3 rmonths fo 1 year Tolal
Man-trading liabilities
Accruals and other payables 5 29204 % 3781 3 28273 0§ 52,258
Redemption payable E 454 - - 5,484
Total 5 34668 3 3781 % 28273 & G772
2020
Ohar Ovar
Within 1 mavith fo 3 manths
T month 3 months fo 1 yaar Torfal
Man-trading liabilitias
Acoruals and other payables 5 24906 % ar s 28157 5 56, 934
Rademption payable 244 - - 244
Tatal % 25240 % ame s 28157 % 57 178

(g) Fairvalues

(i) Financial instrumenis carried at fair value
The following table presents the fair valus of the Series Trust's financial instruments measured
at the end of the reperting peried on a recurring basis, calegorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level inte which a fair value
measurament is classified is determined with reference to the obsarvabilty and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technigue as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.2. unadjusled guoted
prices in aclive markets for identical assets or liabilitizs at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measurad using Lavel 2 inputs ie. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant uncbservable inpuls. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant uncbservable inputs.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continuad)

. 2021
Laval 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Man-derivative financial assets
- Dpen-and mvastment fund - Geldman
Sachs US Fooused Growth Equity
Sub-Trust - Class | Shares (Ace.)
(USD 5 - 18393174 % - §18,393,174

220
Level T Leval 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Maon-dervative financial assels:
= Open-end investment fund - Goldman
Sachs US Focused Growth Equity
Sub-=Trust - Clags | Sharas (Acc.)
(UsSD) & - 517385732 & - 517355732

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, there were no transfers
among Instrumants in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

(i)  Financial Instrumants camried at other than fair value
The financial instruments not measured at FVTPL include:

i. cash and cash equivalents, subscription receivable, redemption payable and accruals and
other payables. These are shori-term financial assets and financial liabilities whose carmrying
amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-term nature and the high credit quality
of counterparties; and

ii. net assets attributable to unitholders. The Series Trust routinely redeems and issues the
redeemable units at the amount equal to the prepertionate share of net assels of the Series
Trust at the time of redemption, calculated on a basis consistent with that used in these
financial stalements. Accordingly, the carrying amount of net assets attributable to unitholders
approximates their fair value. The units are categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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10 Net assets attributable to unitholders

(al Units issued and redesmed

Number of unifs
2021 2020
At 1 January 1,000,658 1,126,846
Subscription of units during the year 90,853 225073
Fedemption of units during the year (225.500) {351,261
At 31 December 866,011 1,000,658

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 Decamber 2020, all unifs issued by the Series Trust were
classified as equity.

The initial cffering of one clags of unils was priced at a unit price of $10.  Units may ba
redeemed on the redemplion date and also in the evenl of the Series Trust's liquidation at the
nat asset value per unit of the applicable class of units on the relevant redemplion date with
no redemption charge.

In meetings of unitholders for any resolution to be proposed in respect of the Series Trust,
individual unitholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, has one vole for every
unit of which it is the holder,

The Trust and the Series Trust do not have any externally imposed capital requirements. As
at 31 December 2021, the Series Trust had a total equity of $18,410,845 (2020; $17.381,546).
The Series Trust strives to invest the funds received from the issue of units in investments that
meet the Seres Trust's investment cbhjectives while maintaining sufficiant liguidity to meaet the
funding needs when unitholders redeem their units.

Unitholders of the Series Trust cannot switch their units into units of any other series. frust of
the Trust. The Series Trust does not intend to pay dividends or other distributions.

{b) Reconciliation of net assets

In accordance with the Series Trust's offering memorandum, the net assets of the Series Trust
are computed using the pre-determined cut-off time for all transactions, which for the purposes
of the year end net assets is the last business day of December. Transactions after the offering
memorandumn based cut-off time are recorded the next day. Under the HKFRSs reguirements,
these transactions are recorded on the same day to comply with recognition and derecognition
criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a timing difference between the
HKFRSs ret assets and units Issued and the offering memorandum net assets and units
issued.
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10 Net assets attributable to unitholders {continuad)

A reconciliation of the net assets between the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2021 2020
Met assets attributable to unitholders for valuation
PUrposes 1840747 5 17405140
Adjustment for timing difference 3372 (13,594)
Met assels attributable to unitholders as reported in
the financial statements 3 18410845 5§ 17,391,546

A reconciliation of the number of units issued recegnized by the Series Trust and the numbers
recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2021 2020
LInits issued recognized 886,452 1.000,658
Adjustment for iming diffarence 159 -
LInits issued as reported in the financial statemenis 866,011 1,000,658
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11 Related parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respact of services provided to the Series Trust
are as follows,

Management fee: Tha Manager is enttled to 8 management fee of
0.15 % per annum of the net asset value of the Series
Trust. The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly
in arrears.

Trustes foe: The Trustea charges a fee of 0.01% per annum of the
net asset value of the Series Trust on the porion of
the net asset valug up to 5200 millien and 0.007% per
annum of the net asset value of the Serfes Trust on
the portion of the net asset value which is greater
than $200 milion. The minimum trustee fee is
$15,000 per annum. The fee is accrued daily and
payable quarterly in arrears.

Administrator fees; The Administrator is entitled to a fee of up to 0.07%
per annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust,
subject to a minimum of $2 800 per month. The fee
is accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears.

Agent company fee: The agent campany charges a fee up to 0.01% per
annum of the net asset value of the Series Trusk The
fae is accrued daily and payable menthly in armears.,

Financlal statements preparation fee:  The Administrator is entitled to a financial statemenis
preparation fee of $8.000 per annum. The fee is
accrued daily and payable yearly.

Professional fee: The Truslee charges an AML fea of 54,500 per

annum. The fee is accrued dally and payable
quarterly in arrears.
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11 Related parties {continued)

The following summarises the significant related party transactions of the Series Trust:

2021 .

Expenses Payvables

Management fee s 28,517 § 2475

Trustae fee 15,824 3,781

Administrator fees 33,692 5,800

Agent company fee 1,782 155

Financial statements preparation fee ¥.889 4002

Professional fee 4,500 1,134
2020

Expensas Fayables

Management fee $ 24,665 3 2,333

Trustea fee 16,139 3T

Administrator fees 33,692 8,707

Agent company fee 1,583 146

Financial statements preparation fee 8,142 4011

Professional fee 4 500 1,135

The Serigs Trust ulilises the banking services of the Administvater in the ordinary course of
their banking and securilies custedian business. Information relating to the cash and cash
equivalents and investment balance are disclosed in note 3 and note 4 respectively.  During
the year ended 31 December 2021, the interest income earned from the bank balances
mainlained with the Administrator and the bank charges amounted to $4 (2020: $148) and $54
{2020: $68) respectively.

12 Distributor fee

SMBC Trust Bank, Ltd., functions as the distributor of the Series Trusl's units, receives a
distribution fee of 0.80% per annum of the net azset value of the Series Trust. For the year
endad 31 December 2021, the Series Trust recognized distributor fee of 5142,585 (2020
$126,663), of which 512,374 (2020: $11,663) remains outstanding al year-end.

13 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of financial instruments designated st fair value through profit or loss are
defived by valuation models using current market parameters as described in nole 2{e)(ii).
Fair valuz estimates are made at a specified point in time, based on market conditions and
infermation about the financial instrumenis. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefare cannot be determingad
with precision. Nevertheless, fair values can be reliably determined within a reascnable range
of astimates,
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14 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year anded 31 Decembear 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2021 and which have not bean adopled in these financial statements. These include the
fellowing which may be relevant to the Series Trust:

Effactive for

accounting pemods

beginning on or affer

Annual Improvements to (FRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 1, Classiffication of Liabifitias as Corrent or 1 Jaruary 2023
Naon-cumant

The Series Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendmenis, new standard and interpretations is expected to be in the peried of initial
application. So far the Series Trust has concluded that the adoption of them is untikely to have
a significant impact on the Serles Trust's resu'ts of oparations and financial position.

18 Significant evenis
Coronavirus {COWD-18} impact

In responsea to the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Manager has tested and implementead
business continuily procaduras that have included the majority of the Manager's staff warking
from homea, pausing all international iravel, asking staf to avoid public transport and
introducing other sccial distancing measures in accordance with relevant government
guidance. The Manager is also monitoring the business continuity planning effectiveness of
key service providers. The pandemic continues to have significant financial market and social
dislocation and the ultimate extent of the effect of this on the Seres Trust in the future is
uncertain.
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Supplementary information (unaudited)
Performance table
{Expressed in United Stales dolfars)
2021 2020
Total net asset value (calculated in accordance with :
the Offering Memarandum) $ 18,407 473 § 17,405,140
Met assel value per unit (calculated in accordance with
the Offering Memorandum) uso 21259 UsD 17.334
Price record (calculated in accordance with the
Offering Memorandum}
- Highest net asset value per unit during the year ust 22363 UsD 17.324
- Lowest net asset value par unil during the year uso 17.013 usD  10.514
Met investment return during the year 22.23% 15.93%

The net investment returns for 2021 and 2020 were calculated by reference to the difference
between the net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Offering Memarandum)
of the Series Trust at the year end date and its year beginning date price, divided by the year

beginning date price to obtain the return in percentage.
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2022
) ( )
13,503,181.24 1,740,019,935
84,037.65 10,829,092
13,419,143.59 1,729,190,843
876,566.245
15.309 1,973
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2021 12 31

2021 2021 2020 2020
81,829,082 1,343,633,526 40,012,764 657,009,585
3,473 57,027 839,852 13,790,370
(161,332) (2,649,071) (126,878) (2,083,337)
81,671,223 1,341,041,482 40,725,738 668,716,618
(61,875,944)  (1,016,003,000) (24,019,968) (394,407,875)
19,795,279 325,038,481 16,705,770 274,308,743
©) (3,286,113) (53,957,975) (2,621,364) (43,042,797)
16,509,166 271,080,506 14,084,406 231,265,947

)
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2021 12 31
2021 12 31
( )
2021 2021 2020 2020
©) 15,021 246,645 17,202 282,457
6,373,203 104,647,993 6,375,325 104,682,837
© 623,061 10,230,662
309,193,039 5,076,949,700 281,524,689 4,622,635,393
315,566,242 5,181,597,694 288,523,075 4,737,548,892
28,471,600 467,503,672 18,587,209 305,201,972
©) 647,429 10,630,784
29,119,029 478,134,456 18,587,209 305,201,972
286,447,213 4,703,463 ,237 269,935,866 4,432,346,920
286,462,234 4,703,709,882 269,953,068 4,432,629,377
a) 2,000,200 32,843,284 2,000,200 32,843,284
284,462,034 4,670,866,598 267,952,868 4,399,786,093
286,462,234 4,703,709,882 269,953,068 4,432,629,377
2022 27
)
)
)
)
)
11 30 ( )
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2021 12 31
2021 12 31
( )
2020 2,000,200 253,868,462 255,868,662
14,084,406 14,084,406
2020 12 31 2,000,200 267,952,868 269,953,068
2021 2,000,200 267,952,868 269,953,068
16,509,166 16,509,166
2021 12 31 2,000,200 284,462,034 286,462,234
2020 32,843,284 4,168,520,146 4,201,363,430
231,265,947 231,265,947
2020 12 31 32,843,284 4,399,786,093 4,432,629,377
2021 32,843,284 4,399,786,093 4,432,629,377
271,080,506 271,080,506
2021 12 31 32,843,284 4,670,866,598 4,703,709,882
11 30 ( )
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2021 12 31
2021 12 31
(
2021 2021 2020 2020
19,795,279 325,038,481 16,705,770 274,308,743
(3,473) (57,027) (839,852) (13,790,370)
19,791,806 324,981,455 15,865,918 260,518,374
2,122 34,843 3,573,875 58,683,028
9,884,391 162,301,700 10,666,028 175,136,180
29,678,319 487,317,998 30,105,821 494,337,581
(2,013,442) (33,060,718) (6,904,322)  (113,368,967)
27,664,877 454,257,280 23,201,499 380,968,614
3,473 57,027 839,852 13,790,370
3,473 57,027 839,852 13,790,370
27,668,350 454,314,307 24,041,351 304,758,983
281,524,689 4,622,635,393 257,483,338 4,227,876,410
1231 309,193,039 5,076,949,700 281,524,680  4,622,635,393
11 30 ( )
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2021 2010

81,829,082 40,012,764
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2021 2020
25,849,811 6,456,764
23,385,076 8,107,596
10,511,444 7,988,111

475,086 468,286
697,584 332,108

190,903
956,943 476,200
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@
2021 2020
(6,155) (20,001)
3,290,087 2,638,814
3,283,932 2,618,813
2,181 2,551
3,286,113 2,621,364
2021 16.5 (2020 16.5 )
®
2021 2020
19,795,279 16,705,770
16.5 (2020 16.5 ) 3,266,221 2,756,452
26,047 (115,087)
(6,155) (20,001)
3,286,113 2,621,364
© ( )
2021 2020
(623,061) 3,662,448
(2,013,442) (6,904,322)
(6,155) (20,001)
@) 3,290,087 2,638,814
647,429 (623,061)
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19,753 19,753
(2,551) (2,551)
17,202 17,202
17,202 17,202
(2,181) (2,181)
15,021 15,021
( )
2021 2020
7,778,000 7,478,000
9,857,857 9,277,210
2,431,474 2,227,319
808,200 750,500
20,875,531 19,733,029

156/238



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 2020
309,193,039 281,524,689

2021 2020
5,018,058 6,008,164
1,239,606 236,399
115,539 130,762
6,373,203 6,375,325

2021 2020
2,719,835 4,884,580
25,283,479 13,241,981
468,286 460,648
28,471,600 18,587,209

@
2021 2020

12 31 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

135
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®)
2021 12 31
286,462,234 (2020 269,953,068 )
( ) (
) 100,000
10
@
2021 2020
() 81,829,082 40,012,764
() (23,385,076) (6,967,624)
)
( 18 )(2021 15
)
( 19 )
( 20 )
( 25 )
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( 28 )
( 30 )(2021 12 23 )
( 31 )
1703( 32 )
( 33 )
1710( 34 )
( 36 )
( 37 )
1802( 38 )
( 39
1809( 40 )
( 41
1903( 42 )
( 10 )(
( 44 )
( 45 )
( 46 )
( 47 )
)
( 49 )(2021 16
( 50 )(2021 30 )
( 54 )(2021 30
2012 )(
) ( )

18 19 20 25 26 27 28 30 31 32 33 34 36 37 38 39 40 41

42 43 44 45 46 47 49 50 54

16,967,624

1.8
18 19 39 45
72 50 55 55
2021 12 31 19 39 45
23,385,076 (2020

)

159/238



®)

©)

31

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 12
25,849,811 (2020 6,456,764 )

2021 2020

20,875,531 19,733,029

160/238



11

@

(®)

©)

@)

2021

2021

2020 12 31

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 2020

161/238



EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

)
2021 2020
3,419 952,524 8,172,619 3,609 727,218 7,932,630
2,617,546 3,768,281 4,356,006 2,008,536
(1,473,267) (25,290,774) (5,970,427) (9,507,160)
3,419 2,096,803 (13,349,874) 3,609 (887,203) 434,006
)
2021 2020
) « D) ( ) « )
1.87 64 5.13 185
(1.01) (35)
0.14 2,936 5.26 (46,627)
(0.85) (17,823)
2020
©

2021 12 31
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2021 12 31

2021 12 31

2021 12 31
17

2022

16
2022

37 2022

2018 2020 2022

2023

2023

2023

12
2023
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Cubrgroun First invesiment Manege men! Limded
Financial zialements for the year anded 31 December 2021

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Nole 2021 2020

£ $

Fevenus 2 81,825,082 40,012,764
Interest income 3473 839,852
Foreign exchange loss (181,332) (126,878)
B1.671,223 40,725 738

Other operating expenses {61,875,944) {24,019,968)
Profit before taxation 3 19,795,279 16,705,770

Income tax 4(a) (3,286.113) (2.621,364)

Profit and total comprehensive income for

the year 16,508,166 14,084 408

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements
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Citfgrowm Firs!? investmen! Managament Limited
Firmancial stikemants fov the yeor ended 31 Decermber 20217

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2021 2020
5 3
Non-current assets
Deferred tax assets 4(c) 15,021 17,202
Current assets
Accounts receivable and other assets 7 8,373,203 8.375,325
Tax receivable 4(c) - 623,061
Cash and cash equivalents 8 308,193,039 281 524 689
315 566,242 288 523,075
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8 28,471 600 18 587,209
Current taxation 4(c) G647 429 -
29.119.029 18,587,209
MNet current assets 286,447,213 269,935,866
NET ASSETS 286,462 234 269 853,068
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 9(a) 2,000,200 2,000,200
Reserves 284 462 034 267 852 868
TOTAL EQUITY 286,462 234 269,953,068
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 APR 2022

)
)

Directors
}
}

The notes on pages 11 ta 30 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2021

{Expressed in Hong Kong doflars)

Balance at 1 January 2020

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Balance at 31 December 2020
Balance at 1 January 2021

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Ealance at 31 December 2021

Firsl rwesiment Maregemen! Lynied
Financial statemants for the year ancsd 31 Decamber 2021

Share Relained
capifal profits Total
s 3 3
2,000,200 253 868 462 255 BGB 662
- 14.084 406 14 084 4086
EDD_IJEIJ _25?.952.!363 269,953,068
2,000,200 287 952 8638 269 953,068
- 16,505,166 16,509,166
2,000,200 284 462,034 286 462 234

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements,
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hang Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustment for:
Interest income

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

Decrease in accounts receivable and other
assets

Increase in accounts payable and accrued
expenses

Cash generated from operating activities

Heng Kong Profits Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Interast received

Met cash generated from investing activities

Met increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Note

6

Ooooooooooooooooooad

Citngrowup Fwat invesiment Management Limed
Financra statements far tha year anded 31 Dacamber 20271

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements,

10
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2021 2020

3 3
19,785,279 16,705,770
(3,473) (839,852)
19,791,806 15,865,918
2,122 3,573,875
9,884,391 10,666,028
29,678,319 30,105,821
(2,013 442) (6.904,322)
2TBB4BT7 23,201,499
3473 539,852

3,473 839,852
27,668,350 24,041,351
281,524 689 257,483,338
309.183.030 281,524,689
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Crigroup Firs! Investmen! Managoment Limited
Firancis sfatermanis for the year andad 31 Decambar 2021

Notes to the financial statements
{Exprassed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporing Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerlified Public
Accountants ("HKICPAT), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Note 1(c) provides
infarmation on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements,

Basis of preparation of the financial statemenits

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cosl basis.

The Company has chosen Hong Kong dollars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless olherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial staternants in conformity with HKFR.Ss requires managament to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the rasults of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periads if the
revision affects both cumrent and future periods.

11
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Citigroup Firs! invasiman! Managamand [ imited
Finprcial stadermants for the yeor endad 31 Decemter 2021

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2021 but they do not have a
material effect an the Company's financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three meonths of maturity at acquisition.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenue when it arises from the trading activities, the
pravisicn of services in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on bahalf of third parties.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value
of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the Company, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method, The Company takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRE 1% and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

- Investment management fee income is recognised when the relevant services have been
rendered.

- Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

12
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Cilfgroun First invastment Maragemend Limitad
Fnancial stelemenis for the year ended 31 December 2021

1 Significant accounting policies {(continued)
(il Provisions and contingent labilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the cbligation and a reliable estimate can be made, Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expanditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefils will be reguired, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
prabability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible cbligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one ar mare future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote,

(g) Acecounts and other receivables

Accounis and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cosl using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note
1(k)(v}), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment temms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. |In such cases,
the receivables are stated at inveice amounts less allowance far impairmeant of doubtful
debts.

Impairment losses for bad and doubltful debts are recognised when there is objective
avidence of impairment and are measured as the differance betwean the carrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rale where the effect of discounting is material.

Objective evidence of impairmant includes observable data that comes to the attenlion of the
Company about evenls that have an impact on the asset’s estimated future cash flows such
as significant financial difficulty of the debtar,

(h) Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Keng dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are lranslated into Hong Keong dollars at the exchange

rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

13
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Citigroup Firs! frvestment Managemaen! Limiled
Financlal staramanis for the year ended 31 Decembar 202

Significant accounting policies (continued)
lncome tax

Income tax for the year comprises cument tax and movements in deferred tax assets. Current
tax and movemeants in deferred tax assets are recognisad in the statement of profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to itemns recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equily, respectively,

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting pericd, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years,

Deferred tax assets arise from deductible temporary differences, being the differences
between the camying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax cradits.
Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities, all deferred
tax agsels to the extent that it is probable that fulure taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be ulilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlament of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted al the end of reporting pericd. Deferred tax assets are not
discounted.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented
geparately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assels are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred lax assets againsl deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities. The principle of offsetting usually applies to income tax levied by the same tax
autharity on the same taxable entity.

Related parties

{a) A person. oraclose member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that
person:

m has control or joint control over the Company;
(i)  has significant influence over the Company; or

(i} iz a member of he key management personnel of the Company or the
Company's parent.

14
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Ciigroup Firs! invasiman! Management Limited
Financial stademants for the year anded 31 December 2027

Significant accounting policies (continued)
{b)  An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

{iy  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others)

{iiy One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
jaint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i} Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{ivi OCne entity is a joint venlure of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

{v) The enlity is a post-employment benafit plan for the benefil of employees of
either the Company or an entity related o the Company

{vi} The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)() has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management parsonnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

{viiiy The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personngl services lo the Company or to the Company's parent,

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition

Finandial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which nomally will be egual 1o the
transaction price, plus, in case of a financial asset or financial liability not held at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial asset or financial liability.

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets is recognised using trade date accounting. From this date, any gains and
logses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities are
recorded.

15
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Crigroun Fust invesiman! Management Limilag
Flnpncial siatemants for the year andad 31 Decambar 2021

1 Significant accounting pelicies (continued)

{iy  Classification and subsequent measurement

(A)

Classification of financial assels

On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it mests both of the following
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL.

- it is held within a business mode| whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- Its confractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interast ("SPPI")

All other financial assets of the Company are measured at F\WVTPL.
Business madel assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the businass model in which a financial
asset is held, the Company considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice.
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on eaming contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assets to the duration of any relaled liabilities or expecled cash
autflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

- how the performance of the portfolic is evaluated and reported to the Company's
managemeant,

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets
held within that business madel) and how those risks are managed,

- how the managers of the business are compensated: e.g. whether compeansation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows
collectad: and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assats in prior periods, the
reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held

to collect contractual cash flows nor held bath to collect contractual cash fiows and to
sell financial assets.
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Cibgroug Firs! Investrmen! Managemen! Limited
Financial statarnents for the year ended 31 December 2021

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(B

Assessment whelther contractual cash flows are SPP|

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the
financial asset on initial recagnition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount cutstanding
during a particular pericd of time and for other basic lending risks and costs {e.g.
liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset containg a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Company considers:

- contingznt events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

= leverage features;

- prepayment and extension features,

- lerms that limit the Company's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse features), and

- features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. pericdical reset
of interest rates)

Raclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the
period after the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Classification of financial assals

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables include amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, accounts
receivable and other assats and cash and cash equivalents. These assels are
measurad at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Qiher financial abilities

Financial liabilities includes amount due to fellow subsidiares and accounts payable

and accrued expenses. These liabililizs are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interast mathod,

Cerecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial assel expire, or whare the financial assal togather with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership. have been transferrad.
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Cunigrow Frst invesiment Management Limited
Francial stelemants for the pear anded 31 December 2021

Significant accounting policies (continued)

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

The Company uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses to
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
deracognition.

Offsetting

Financial assels and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
statement of financial position where there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle an a nat basis, or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultanecusly.

Impairment

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assats measured at
amartised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances al an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-menth ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low cradit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the nsk of default occurring over the
expected life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognitien

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credil risk
rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of investment grade’.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default avents that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporiing date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum pericd considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum confractual pariod
over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all cash shorifalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to
recaive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
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Citvgvoup First Inwesimaent Maragement LimiTed
Financal stalements for the yeer anded 31 Decombar 2021

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Credi-impaired financial assats

At each reporting date, the Campany assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ whan ong or more events that
have a detimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
ocourred,

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired inciudes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- abreach of contract such as a default ar baing mare than 890 days past due; or

- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation

Presentalion of allowance for ECLs in the slalement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measurad at amorlised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assets.

Wite-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof,

Revenue

The principal activity of the Cempany is the provision of investment management services.

2021 2020
s 3
Revenue from contracts with customers within the
scope of HKFRS 15
Investment management fee incomes 81,829,082 40012,764
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Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Management fee expenses
Sub-manager fee expenses
Legal and professional fae
Auditors’ remuneration
Custody expenses

Printing expanses

Others

Income tax
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Ciligroup First fvestment Management! Limiad

Firancia! sfaternems for the year ended 31 Décember 2021

Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprahensive income

represents.

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax

Qver-provision in respect of the prior years
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of tamporary differencas

The provision for Hong Kong Profite Tax for 2021 is calculated at 16.5% (2020

estimated assessable profits for the year.
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2021 2020
$ 5
25,849 811 6 456,764
23,385,076 8,107,596
10,511,444 7.988.111
475,086 468,266
697,584 332,108

. 190,803

956,943 476,200
2021 2020

5 $

(6,155) (20,001)
3,290,087 2,638,814
3,283,932 2,618,813
2,181 2 551
3,286,113 2,621,364
18.5%) of the
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Cabgrowe First invesimen! Marmagement Limiled
Financial stalemenis for the year anced 31 Dacembar 2021

Income tax (continued)

Reconciliation between income tax charged to profit or loss and accounting profit at

2020
]

16,705,770

2,756,452

(115,087)
(20,001)

applicable tax rates:
2021
§

Profit before taxation 19795278
Motional tax on profit before taxation at 18.5%

(2020: 16.5%) 3,268,221
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible

loss 26 047
Ovear-provision in respect of prior years (5,155)
Aclual lax expense 3,286,113

2,621,364

Current tax payable/{receivable) in the stafement of financial position represents:

Note 2021
3

Current taxation bought forward (623,061}
Profits Tax Paid (2.013,442)
Balance of Profils Tax provision relating lo

prior years {8,155)
Provision for Hong Kong Praofits Tax for the

year d{a) 3,280.087

54T 429

2
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5

3,662 448
(5,904.322)

(20,001}
2,638,814

(623,081)
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Deferred tax assels recognised.
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Citspoup First Investment Managemant Limited
Fnancral sialermenis for the pear erded 31 Decermnber 2021

The components of deferrad tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and

the movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 January 2020
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Al 31 December 2020
At 1 January 2021
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

At 31 December 2021

Deprsciation in
excess of the
refated
deprecialion
allowances Tatal
k] -3
19,753 19,753
(2,551) {_2 ._5_51}
17,202 17.202
17,202 17,202
(2,181) (2,181)
15,021 15,021

As at 31 December 2021, there is no significant deferred tax asset or liability not recognised

or provided for (2020: SNil).

Directors' emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Keng Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulations are as follows.

Direclors' fees

Salaries,. allowances and benefits in kind
Discretionary bonuses

Share basad payments

Retirement scheme contribufions
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2021 2020

S $
7.778,000 7,478,000
9,857,857 9277210
2,431,474 2,227 319
808,200 750,500
20,875,531 19,733,029
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Cibgroun First invesimen! Management Limled
Financial sfatemants for tha year anded 31 Dacembar 2021

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise!

2021 2020

3 3

Cash at bank 309,193,039 281,524 689
Accounts receivable and other assets

2021 2020

5 ¥

Imvestment management fee receivable 5,018,058 6,008,164

Legal and professicnal fee receivable 1,239,808 238,399

Others 115,538 130,762

6,373,203 6,375,325

All of the above fee receivables are due from funds managed by the Company. All the fee
receivables arae interest free, unsecured and expacted to be settled within three months.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

2021 2020

] 5

Legal and professional fee payable 2.719.835 4 884 580
Other payable 25283479 13,241,981
Audit fee 458 285 460, 648
28,471,600 18,587 209

All accounts payable and accrued charges are interest free, unsecured and expectad to be
settled within three months.
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Fingncial statamants for the year ended 31 December 2021

Share capital

fssued share capital
2021 2020
No. aof MNa. of
shares Amournt shares Amaouni
$ 3
Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:

Al 1 January and 31 December 20,002 2.000.200 20,002 2,000,200

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

Capital management

The Company's primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also be affected by the group's capital management objectives.

The Company defines “capital” as including all components of equily. On this basis the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2021 was $236 462,234 (2020: 3269 953,068).

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewead and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs, Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the directors' fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Keng Companies Ordinance.

The results of the directors’ review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any, that are declared.

Ag a licensed corporation registered under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital reguiremenis of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital requirement is the
higher of $100,000 and the variable required liguid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company monitors its compliance with the reguirements of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Company complied with the requirements of the FRR at all times during the year.
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Citigranp Ficsl Iavesiment Management Limited
Feracicia! stalermonis for the year ended 31 December 2021

Material related party transactions

In addition {o those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had
transactions in the nomal course of business with related parties as follows:

Fee income and expenses
Note 2021 2020
8 s
Fee income
Investment management fee income i) 81,829,082 40,012,764
Fee expanses
Sub-manager fee expenses {iiiy {23%&5.0? E_r} (6,867.624)

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year
- Asia High Yield Bond Fund ("Fund Series 18") (Terminated on 15 Jun 2021)
- Mexico Bond Fund ("Fund Series 197)
Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series (*Fund Series 20
- Global Balance Plus Fund {*Fund Series 25"
US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 277
- Treasury Premium Plus Fund (*Fund Series 287
Fixed Income Fund (*Fund Seres 30") (Terminated on 23 Dec 2021)
- Treasury Premium Plus |l Fund (*Fund Series 317)
USD Deneminaled Target Setling at Maturity Fund 1703 ("Fund Series 32)
= JPN High Dividend Equity with Short Index Allocation (*Fund Series 33"
- USD Denominaled Target Setling at Maturity Fund 1710 ("Fund Series 34")
- JGB Asset Swap Fund (*Fund Series 36")
- Mikkei 225 Intraday Fund (*Fund Series 377)
- Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1802 ("Fund Series 38")
- China Hong Kang Equity Opportunities Fund ("Fund Series 387)

- Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1809 ("Fund Series 40")
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Citigroup First investmant Management Limired
Firgeiol slatements for the year ended 31 December 2021

Material related party transactions (continued)

- Multi Asset Systematic Stratagias Fund ("Fund Series 417)

- Target Selting At Maturity Fund 1803 ("Fund Series 42")

- Flexibeta Fund (VT5 Defensive and VT10 Active) (*Fund Series 437)

- USD Denominated Citigroup Note, Return Refemring the High Watermark of Global Multi
Asset Strategy Fund ("Fund Series 447)

- Global Multi-Thermatic Equity Fund ("Fund Series 457)

- US Equity Intraday Momentum Fund {"Fund Series 46")

- Algebris Financial Hybrid Securities Fund ("Fund Series 47") (Launched on 29 Jan 2021)
- Nikkei 225 Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Saries 49") (Launchad on 16 Mar 2021)

- LS Large Cap Equity Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 507) (Launched on 30 Aug 2021)

- Citigroup Note Target Setting at Maturity Fund ("Fund Series 54" (Launched on 30 Sepl
2021)

- CGMYL Index Targel Volatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL")

- Kokusai Turkish Bond Open (1M) Active Currency Hedge ("KAM™)

The Company is entitled to fee income from the following funds under its management:
Invastment managameant/advisory fee income

For Fund Series 18, 19, 20, 25, 26, 27, 28, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40 41, 42, 43,
44 45 45 47, 49, 50, 54, CGMYL and KAM, fees are calculated at 0.01% to 0.62% per
annum of the net asset value of the funds.

Fursuant ta the sub-management agreement signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 18, 19, 39 and 45, the sub-managers’ fee expenses are payable to
the sub-managers calculated at 72%, 50%, 55% and 55% respectively of the gross
management fee income received, The {olal sub-managers' fee expenses paid to the sub-

managers for Series 19, 38 and 45 as at 31 December 2021 amounted to 523,385,076
(2020: 36,967 624),
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Material related party transactions (continued)

Management fee expenses

The Company paid management fee expenses to fellow subsidiaries, which provided
ancillary sale support services o the Company. The management fee expense for the year
ended 31 December 2021 amounted to $25,849 811 (2020; $8,458,764).

Key management personnal emoluments

Besides the directors’ emoluments disclosed in note 5, there were no other key management
parscennel emoluments.

2021 2020
3 5

Amounts disclosed include emoluments
totalling 20,875,531 19,733,029

Amounts disclosed emoluments to certain key management personnel were paid by fellow
subsidiaries within Citigroup (“group companies’). The Company did nol direclly reimburse
the group companies for the service provided.

Financial instruments

Exposure o credit, liquidity and interest rate risks and foreign currency risk arise in the
narmal course of the Company's business. Thase risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices described below,

Crecdit risk

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and gutstanding fees receivable arising from the Company's
investment management activities, Management has a credilt policy in place and exposure 1o
credit risks is monitored on an ongoing basis,

Management fee receivables are regulariy reviewed and setlled on a regular schedule. For
the balance due from fellow subsidiaries, management considers the default risk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remote.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of these financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.

27

184/238



11
(b)

(c)

(d)

(i)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Citsprowup Furst investiment Manegerneni Limited
Fnancial siafements for tha year anded 31 Decembar 2021

Financial instruments (continued)
Liguidity risk

The Company's liquidity risk management process is integrated into the liquidity and funding
pracess and liquidity monitering framework of Citigroup and brokar dealers across the
Citigroup network, Citigroup policy reguires Citigroup and broker dealers across the Citigroup
network to maintain a strong liquidity position and ensure sufficient cash flows to meet both
expacied and unexpecled current and future cash Tlow and collateral neads.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, all financial liabilities mature within one year or are
repayable on demand. Details of the earliest contractual settlement dates of the financial
liabilities are disclosed in notes 8.

Inferest rate risk

The Company does not have any fixed deposits in 2021 which the exposure to interest rate
risk to the extent thal it eams bank interest on cash and cash equivalents is insignificant. The
Company was exposed to interest rate risk only to the extent that it eams bank interest on
cash and cash equivalents in 2021 and 2020,

Currency risk

Currency risk arizes from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instruments,

To minimise the exposures to foreign currency risk, management ensures that the net
exposure is kept at an acceptable level by buying or seliing foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to cover the foreign curmencies.

Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Company’s exposure at ihe end of the reporiing pericd to

currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the Company to which they relate.

N — _apz1 — & 2020 T R
Augiralan Sapanese s Auslralon JEpEngse ]
Daffars Y Dodlars Dolars Yen Dofiars
HED HKD HED HED =KD HRD
equivalent equhalent equivalant equivabent equivakent equivakent
Cash and cash
eguivalenis 3419 BEZ 524 8172618 3508 721218 7832 630
ACCOUNTS receivable
ano ather assels - 2,817 548 3788281 . 4 356 008 2008 538
Accounts payable
ang @ccrued
BEOANGAS - {1 ATI28T) {25, 280,774) - 15,870.427) (8.507 ,160)
Orvarall nal
BXDOSINS d418 2,086,803 {13,348, 874) 3608 (38T H03) 434 D

Hong Kong dollar ("HKD") is pegged to the United States dollar {*USDY), the Company
therefore consider the risk of movemeants in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
to be insignificant.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicatas the instantaneous change on the Company's profit before tax
that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company has significant exposure at
the end of reporting pericd had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.

2021 2020

increase/ Increase/
(decrease) Increase/ (decrease) Increases
in foreign {decreasa) in foreign (decreass)
exchange on profit aexchangs an profit
rales before fax rates before tax
% 3 % 5
Australian dollars 1.87 E4 5.13 185
(1.01) (35) = =
Japanese Yen 0.14 2,936 5.26 (46.627)
(0.85) (17,823) - -

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expose the Company
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020,

Fair values of financial assets and labilities

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are considered not to be materally different
from the carrying values in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020

Immediate and ultimate holding company

At 31 December 2021, the directors consider the Company’s immediate holding company to
be Citigroup Global Markets Hong Kong Heldings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This entity produces financial statements bul not available for public use. Its ultimate
helding company at 31 December 2021 is considered lo be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Citigroup Inc. produces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
which are available for public use.
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Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developmeants include the following which may be relevant to

the Company.
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference fo the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plani and Equipment. Proceeds 1 January 2022
befare Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Conlracts - Cost of Fulfiling a 1 January 2022
Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2023
Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, 1 January 2023
Disclosure of accaunting policias
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments to HKAS 12, Daferred tax ralated to assels and 1 January 2023

fiabilities arsing from a single transaction

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements,
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of US Focused Growth Equity Fund Foreign Currency
Series (the" Series Trust” ), a series trust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust,
set out on pages 7 to 33, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity
and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Series Trust as at 31 December 2021, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (* HKFRSs” ) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“ HKICPA" ).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (* HKSAs” )
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors”™ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with the HKICPA"s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (* the Code” ) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may translate these financial statements and our auditors® report from
English to Japanese. We have not been engaged to perform any procedures over the
translation. In the event of any inconsistencies between the English and the Japanese
versions of the financial statements and our auditors® report, the English version shall
prevail.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors® Report Thereon
The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information included in the annual report, but

does not include the financial statements and our auditors® report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial
Statements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and for such internal control as the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are
responsible for assessing the Series Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust either intend
to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditors*® Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors” report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of
the Series Trust.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager®s and Trustee®s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Series Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern. ITf we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors”
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors® report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

KPMG

22 June 2022
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Independent auditor®s report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited

(* the Company” ) set out on pages 7 to 30, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, the statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“ HKFRSs” )
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“ HKICPA” ) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (* HKSAs” ) and
with reference to Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and
associated entities of intermediaries, issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (* the Code” ) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor”s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor”s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor®s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and to report to you on the
other matters set out in the preceding paragraph, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company®s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince"s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
27 April 2022

238/238



	表紙
	本文
	第一部証券情報
	（１）ファンドの名称
	（２）外国投資信託受益証券の形態等
	（３）発行（売出）価額の総額
	（４）発行（売出）価格
	（５）申込手数料
	（６）申込単位
	（７）申込期間
	（８）申込取扱場所
	（９）払込期日
	（１０）払込取扱場所
	（１１）振替機関に関する事項
	（１２）その他

	第二部ファンド情報
	第１ファンドの状況
	１ファンドの性格
	（１）ファンドの目的及び基本的性格
	（２）ファンドの沿革
	（３）ファンドの仕組み
	（４）ファンドに係る法制度の概要
	（５）開示制度の概要
	（６）監督官庁の概要

	２投資方針
	（１）投資方針
	（２）投資対象
	（３）運用体制
	（４）分配方針
	（５）投資制限

	３投資リスク
	４手数料等及び税金
	（１）申込手数料
	（２）買戻し手数料
	（３）管理報酬等
	（４）その他の手数料等
	（５）課税上の取扱い

	５運用状況
	（１）投資状況
	（２）投資資産
	①投資有価証券の主要銘柄
	②投資不動産物件
	③その他投資資産の主要なもの

	（３）運用実績
	①純資産の推移
	②分配の推移
	③収益率の推移

	（４）販売及び買戻しの実績


	第２管理及び運営
	１申込（販売）手続等
	２買戻し手続等
	３資産管理等の概要
	（１）資産の評価
	（２）保管
	（３）信託期間
	（４）計算期間
	（５）その他

	４受益者の権利等
	（１）受益者の権利等
	（２）為替管理上の取扱い
	（３）本邦における代理人
	（４）裁判管轄等


	第３ファンドの経理状況
	１財務諸表
	（１）貸借対照表
	（２）損益計算書
	（３）投資有価証券明細表等

	２ファンドの現況
	純資産額計算書


	第４外国投資信託受益証券事務の概要

	第三部特別情報
	第１管理会社の概況
	１管理会社の概況
	２事業の内容及び営業の概況
	３管理会社の経理状況
	（１）貸借対照表
	（２）損益計算書

	４利害関係人との取引制限
	５その他

	第２その他の関係法人の概況
	１名称、資本金の額及び事業の内容
	２関係業務の概要
	３資本関係

	第３投資信託制度の概要
	第４その他

	監査報告書

